IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-KA-01558-COA

DARRIAN RAGLAND

vs.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

Darrian Ragland, Appellant;

Allen Shackelford, Esq., trial attorney;

E. Richardson LaBruce, Samuel D. Winnig, and Phillip W. Broadhead, **Esqs.**, Attorneys for the Appellant, Criminal Appeals Clinic, University of Mississippi School of Law;

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE IN (A) FAILING TO MOVE THE COURT TO SUPPRESS THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR **CONVICTIONS; (B) FAILING TO MOVE THE COURT TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT** ON SPEEDY TRIAL GROUNDS; (C) FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE COMPOSITION OF THE JURY; (D) FAILING TO GIVE AN OPENING STATEMENT; (E) WITHDRAWING VALID OBJECTIONS AT TRIAL; (F) FAILING TO RENEW HIS OBJECTION TO THE **5TATE'S REFERENCE TO THE COMPLAINANT AS "THE VICTIM" AT TRIAL: (G)** BEING REPEATEDLY REPRIMANDED BY THE TRIAL JUDGE IN FRONT OF THE JURY; (H) FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE ADMISSION OF OFFICER WIDE'S **TESTIMONY WITHOUT FIRST CONDUCTING A BOX HEARING: (I) INTRODUCING** HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL INFORMATION DURING THE CROSS-EXAMINATION OF **OFFICER WIDE: (J) FAILING TO PROPERLY PREPARE AND OUESTION HIS CLIENT** DURING DIRECT EXAMINATION, WHILE NOT PRESENTING ANY ALIBI EVIDENCE EVEN THOUGH A CONTINUANCE WAS SOUGHT BY THE DEFENSE AND GRANTED BY THE TRIAL COURT TO FIND SUCH ALIBI EVIDENCE; (K) FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE STATE'S PREJUDICIAL AND INFLAMMATORY CLOSING STATEMENT; (L) FATALLY CONTRADICTING HIS CLIENT'S TESTIMONY DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT; AND, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL'S ERRORS CUMULATIVELY RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE TO THE APPELLANT **BEFORE, DURING, AND AFTER TRIAL.**

ISSUE TWO:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUSTAIN THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE JURY'S VERDICT (J.N.O.V.) BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT, OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, REFUSING TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL, AS THE VERDICT OF THE JURY WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Confusion. A cloud of confusion covers the testimony presented by the State in Darrian Razland's case. First, the testimony of Norman Starks (hereinafter, "Sgt. Starks"). Sgt. Starks was the Sergeant of Investigations with the Clarksdale Police Department and investigated the present case. His testimony was riddled with speculations and conclusions based solely on hearsay. Second, the testimony of Kimberly Yarborough (hereinafter, "Mrs. Yarbrough"), the accuser in the present case, whose testimony, when not prompted by the State, was implausible and often contradictory. Third, the testimony of Officer Joseph Wide (hereinafter, "Officer Wide"), a johnny-come-lately witness discovered to defense counsel on the morning of trial. Finally, defense's closing argument presented speculation and conflicting arguments based on evidence that did not come up as proof in the trial.

On November 30, 2004, a grand jury indicted Darrian Ragland (hereinafter, "Mr. Ragland") on the charges of burglary of a dwelling and petit larceny. (CP. 2-3, RE. 8-9). Mr. Ragland's trial began almost five years later, on July 14, 2009. (CP. 1, RE. 7). After empaneling a jury, the State gave its opening statement. Defense counsel declined to make one. (T. I. 50). In its case-in-chief, the State first called Sgt. Norman Starks, who at the time of trial was employed by the District Attorney in Bolivar County (T. I. 50), and had previously been the investigator of the present case as the Sergeant of Investigations with the Clarksdale Police Department. (T. I. 50-51).

Early Saturday morning, March 27, 2004, Sgt. Starks investigated alleged burglary at 434 Barnes Street in Clarksdale, Mississippi. According to his testimony, once there, he spoke with the Complainant, Mrs. Yarbrough, who explained in detail what had happened that night. (T. I. 51). Immediately after talking to her, Sgt. Starks drove Mrs. Yarbrough to the Clarksdale police station to get an even more detailed statement as to the previous night's alleged burglary. Sgt. Starks testified that upon talking with Mrs. Yarbrough at the police station, he "allowed her to sign an Affidavit because she

-2-

actually knew the person." (T. I. 51-52). This comment elicited a hearsay objection from defense counsel, however, with the caveat that with a precautionary instruction from the court, the objection would be withdrawn. (T. I. 52). Without explicitly ruling on the objection, the trial court allowed the State to simply re-ask the question. (T. I. 53).

During Sgt. Starks' initial investigation of Mrs. Yarbrough's home, he dusted for fingerprints but failed to locate any. (T. I. 51, 54). He further stated that while he was at Mrs. Yarbrough's home he noticed "a table that was on the outside where the window was where the suspect got in - - climbed on top of to get into the window." (T. I. 54). Immediately following this statement, the State asked Sgt. Starks if he was able to determine how entry was made into Mrs. Yarbrough's house, raising an objection from defense counsel that having not been qualified as an expert he was unable to testify as to conclusions. (T. I. 54). The trial court overruled the objection. Sgt. Starks testified that he determined where entry was made from what he saw and from Mrs. Yarbrough's statements; prompting defense counsel to ask the trial court whether he had a continuing objection to Sgt. Starks' use of hearsay testimony. (T. I. 55). Regardless of the court's ruling on the objection, Sgt. Starks continued to testify as to the alleged point of entry. (T. I. 55-56). The State asked, "Is [this] the window through which the break-in was made...," which appears to be subject to the continuing objection; the trial court was silent as to the objectionable nature of this question and the response. (T. I. 58). Sgt. Starks later testified, "This is the window in which the suspect went into," which, despite the continuing objection, elicited another objection from defense counsel that was again overruled by the court. (T. I. 58). Defense counsel then entered another continuing objection to whether Sgt. Starks could testify as to "whether there was - - entry was gained, whether gained and whether - - unless he saw it. . ." and that objection was again overruled. (T. I. 59-60).

t

Ì.

Sgt. Starks referred to Mrs. Yarbrough as "the victim" throughout his testimony, which the trial

-3-

court had previously concluded was unacceptable following defense counsel's objection during voir dire. (T. I. 8-9, 64). Sgt. Starks also testified that Mrs. Yarbrough had a bruise on her arm, which he concluded was from a struggle. (T. I. 65). Once again, defense counsel objected to Sgt. Starks's testimony, which the trial court sustained. Immediately thereafter, the State asked Sgt. Starks what Mrs. Yarbrough had said, eliciting hearsay, and defense counsel's objection was again sustained by the court. (T. I. 65-66).

On cross-examination, Sgt. Starks testified that "[Mrs. Yarbrough] indicated . . . that [the] table was set there in front of that window by the person that came into the window," a conclusion based solely on the hearsay of Mrs. Yarbrough's speculative conclusion. (T. I. 70). Defense counsel did not object, but simply asked the witness to answer his question. (T. I. 70). Further, Sgt. Starks testified that he never asked Mrs. Yarbrough whether the table outside of the window was her, whether the front door had been locked, whether the window screens could have been cut some time before that night, or whether anyone else had a key to her home. (T. I. 70-73). When asked why he did not conduct any further investigation, Sgt. Starks responded, "I believe the Complainant. I believe what she was saying was truthful and correct." (T. I. 73).

The State's next witness was Mrs. Yarbrough. (T. I. 76). Mrs. Yarbrough testified that on the night of March 27, 2004, she dropped her two oldest children off at a slumber party and returned home with her three-year old daughter and her five-year old son. (T. I. 77). With her husband, a truck driver, on the road, and her older children away from the house, Mrs. Yarbrough, wearing nothing but a tee shirt, invited her two young children to sleep in the bedroom with her: the little girl at the foot of her bed and the young boy on the floor beside her. (T. I. 106). The house, aside from the back bedroom, was pitch black dark, and the television in her bedroom was off. (T. I. 102). At some point later in the night, Mrs. Yarbrough was awakened by someone crawling into bed with her, whom she assumed was her five-

-4-

year-old son, and paid no attention. (T. I. 77). Then, after she claimed that she unexpectedly felt someone's hands running through her hair and penis rubbing up against the left side of her behind, she peered out of the corner of her eye to see who was in the bed with her. (T. I. 77, 89). There behind her lie "someone with braids in their hair, a white tee shirt, some black jeans" and a pair of "black shoes with some white on the sides with some red shoe strings." (T. I. 77-78).

Believing that she must have been dreaming, Mrs. Yarbrough continued to lie in the bed. (T. I. 78). It was not until she smelled the odor of alcohol on his breath did she roll over and ask the person beside her what he was doing in her bed. Mrs. Yarbrough then said that the man said "Bitch, you heard me. You fixing to give me some." (T. I. 78). After these words, Mrs. Yarbrough said that she then jumped out of her bed and ran straight to her vanity and cut on the light. According to Mrs. Yarbrough, as soon as the light hit his face, she immediately recognized the person in her bed as the Appellant, Darrian Ragland, who she claimed was the older brother of one of her childhood friends. (T. I. 82). Mrs. Yarbrough further testified that despite the fact that she had not seen the Appellant in over ten years, when he was a teenager, she had no doubt as to the identity of the man in her room. (T. I. 81, 91). She was so certain that she recognized the intruder, she did not even look at any pictures or a lineup: "I didn't have to look at nothing. I knew exactly who it was. I told them who it was and what he had on. And I told them where I last known for him to live at." (T. I. 104)

Mrs. Yarbrough continued to testify that as the man she believed to be Darrian Ragland got out of the bed and began pulling up his pants, Mrs. Yarbrough yelled at him, "What the hell you doing . . . Just get out of my house. Get out of my house right now." (T. I. 78). Then, she went to the dresser beside her vanity, pulled out her unloaded Bersa .380, pointed it at the man, and repeated, "Get out of my house." (T. I. 79). Instead of leaving, however, the man faked one step towards the door and then lunged at the gun in Mrs. Yarbrough's hands, forcing her to backpedal and trip over her five-year-old

-5-

son who had been asleep on the floor. (T. I. 79).

It was at this point, with her back on the floor and the man straddling her, her two children awoke and began screaming, "Get off my momma." (T. I. 79, 93). The man, however, continued to try to wrestle the gun out of both of Mrs. Yarbrough's hands, while simultaneously trying to pull her tee shirt off of her, fiddle with her breasts, pull his pants down, and pull his penis back out. (T. I. 79, 93, 106). Eventually, the man wrestled the gun away and "finally just jumped up and he was huffing and puffing like he didn't know which way to go" and then ran out of the bedroom. (T. I. 80). Mrs. Yarbrough, peeking out from behind her bedroom door, watched the man wander from room to room looking for a way out of the house. She then called for her children to run into the bathroom and lock the door. She then ran to the dresser, retrieved her husband's gun, put the clip in it, picked up the phone, and dialed 911. (T. I. 80). As soon as she cocked the gun, she heard her front door alarm beep. (T. I. 80). Then, based on the alarm's thirty-second delay, she said searched the house to make sure he was gone, looked out into the front yard to see what direction he may have run as per the 911 operator's instructions, told the operator that she could not see him, and then entered her security code. (T. I. 95).

Some time later, a police officer, arrived at Mrs. Yarbrough's home. According to Mrs. Yarbrough, as she was going to meet the police officer at her front door she noticed that her "big old computer desk" had been pushed away from the wall in her living room. (T. I. 83). Behind the desk, she noticed that her curtains were "pulled back a little bit" and upon examination, noticed that the window had been propped open by a stick. (T. I. 83). She later testified that the cooler and the table were both hers and were left outside on the front porch from a barbeque the weekend before.

In addition to the cooler and the table, Mrs. Yarbrough noticed that the window's screen had been cut and there were pry marks on the bottom of the window frame, both of which she stated had not been there the day before. (T. I. 85-86). Further, Mrs. Yarbrough stated that later that morning, while she was

-6-

cleaning up her house, she discovered that a lamp, which was usually on top of the television in her room, was unplugged and thrown behind her rocking chair with its cord coiled around its base. (T. I. 101). She later stated that she had not initially seen the lamp because the television was turned off and there was very little light in her bedroom before she cut on her vanity. Mrs. Yarbrough testified that she had not heard anything prior to the man climbing into bed with her. (T. I. 102).

 ϵ^{-1}

1

ι.

i .

The trial transcript indicates that defense counsel only spoke with Officer Joseph Wide, (hereinafter "Wide") the morning before the trial, approximately four years after the indictment. (T. I. 107). For this reason, defense counsel initially moved, in limine, to prevent Officer Wide from testifying; however, this motion was apparently altered or withdrawn, as defense counsel concluded that "he can say he saw him" referring to Officer Wide seeing Mr. Ragland nearby and a few hours prior to the incident. (T. I. 107). Officer Wide indicated that he had known Mr. Ragland from the neighborhood for a few years prior to the incident, but then said he had not seen him in a long time. (T. I. 110). Officer Wide mentioned that it was Officer Brewer's case, who was still employed in Clarksdale, but Officer Brewer was never called to testify at trial. (T. I. 113-14). In the defense's case-in-chief, defense counsel called Mr. Ragland to the stand and conducted a very limited direct examination, which did not elicit any additional alibi information surrounding Mr. Ragland's whereabouts for the month of March 2004, despite the trial court's granting of a defense motion for continuance on the specific grounds to find alibi evidence. The State did not choose to cross-examine Mr. Ragland. Defense counsel then rested. (T. I. 119-20) (CP. 5-7, RE.22-24). After resting, the defense moved for a peremptory instruction for the court to direct the jury to return a verdict of not guilty, and that was denied by the court. (T. I. 123). In defense counsel's closing argument, he implied that there was in fact a man in the house, whether or not it was Mr. Ragland, but that the man may have been there for consensual sex. (T. I. 138).

On July 14, 2009, a jury comprised of one male and eleven females (T. I. 42-43), convicted

Darrian Ragland of burglary of a dwelling and petit larceny, and defense counsel timely filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or in the alternative a new trial, which was denied by the trial court. (CP. 11-12, RE. 16-17). On August 17, 2009, Mr. Ragland was sentenced to the maximum extent of the law: twenty-five years as to the burglary charge, and six months as to the petit larceny charge. Feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the jury and the sentence handed down by the trial court, the Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal. (CP. 18, RE. 19).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A dark combination of an incompetent representation, apathetic investigation and prosecution, and juror confusion has resulted in the imprisonment of Darrian Ragland for over twenty-five years. At trial, a man was convicted of burglary with intent to rape with absolutely no physical or circumstantial evidence tying him to the home at 434 Barnes Street in Clarksdale, Mississippi. The State rested its entire case on two separate and highly suspect eyewitness identifications: One by the childhood schoolmate of the Appellant's sister who had admittedly not seen him in over ten years, and the other by a police officer, whose supposed identification was disclosed by the prosecutor on the morning of trial. This utter lack of physical evidence placing Mr. Ragland inside of the home in question, however, was further exacerbated by the defense counsel's incompetent representation and the State's delay of over four-and-a-half years in bringing Mr. Ragland to trial. This delay only served to excuse the conflicting, confusing, and implausible testimony of the State's witnesses, to exclude the exculpatory testimony of the first responding officer that night, and to hinder the defendant's ability to properly develop and establish his alibi evidence.

Mr. Ragland first contends that the defense counsel's deficient performance allowed him to be convicted at trial, despite the overwhelming lack of conclusive, consistent, and persuasive evidence offered by the State. Defense counsel committed thirteen errors over the course of his representation,

-8-

which the Appellant submits would satisfy the two-prong ineffective assistance of counsel test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*. For example, counsel not only failed to object to the testimony of Officer Wide, a prosecutorial witness discovered the morning of trial, but also, on cross-examination, introduced into evidence that the reason Officer Wide was in the area on the night of the alleged incident was because he had been dispatched there on a call that allegedly involved Mr. Ragland, evidence which is both unduly suggestive and highly prejudicial. Furthermore, defense counsel failed to make an opening statement; failed to make a *Batson* challenge to the State's continued striking of male jurors in an attempted rape case; failed to make a pre-trial motion to dismiss the indictment on speedy trial grounds; failed to make a motion to exclude Mr. Ragland's previous convictions, nor requested that the trial court perform a *Peterson* balancing test, which if successful, would have presented Mr. Ragland with an opportunity to testify without the fear of being impeached; and, alleged in his closing statement that this case was a consensual relationship between a married woman and her ex-lover gone wrong, essentially torpedoing the Appellant's trial testimony that he had been residing continuously outside of Mississippi for the past six years.

The circumstances surrounding the original accusations, the arrest, and the trial of Darrian Ragland are overflowing with procedural errors, acts and omissions by trial counsel that prejudiced the defense's case, and fundamental defects in the proceedings that seriously call into question the guilty verdict in this case, which resulted in a prison sentence of over a quarter century. Therefore, the Ap_Lellant respectfully moves this honorable Court to reverse the verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court and remand this case to the lower court with proper instructions for a new trial, or, in the alternative, to find the State's case legally insufficient, thereby and render this matter, ordering the immediate discharge of the Appellant from the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE IN (A) FAILING TO MOVE THE COURT TO SUPPRESS THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR **CONVICTIONS: (B) FAILING TO MOVE THE COURT TO DISMISS THE** INDICTMENT ON SPEEDY TRIAL GROUNDS; (C) FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE COMPOSITION OF THE JURY; (D) FAILING TO GIVE AN OPENING STATEMENT; (E) WITHDRAWING VALID OBJECTIONS AT TRIAL; (F) FAILING TO RENEW HIS OBJECTION TO THE STATE'S REFERENCE TO THE COMPLAINANT AS "THE VICTIM" AT TRIAL; (G) BEING REPEATEDLY **REPRIMANDED BY THE TRIAL JUDGE IN FRONT OF THE JURY: (H) FAILING** TO OBJECT TO THE ADMISSION OF OFFICER WIDE'S TESTIMONY WITHOUT FIRST CONDUCTING A BOX HEARING; (I) INTRODUCING HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL INFORMATION DURING THE CROSS-EXAMINATION OF **OFFICER WIDE; (J) FAILING TO PROPERLY PREPARE AND QUESTION HIS** CLIENT DURING DIRECT EXAMINATION, WHILE NOT PRESENTING ANY ALIBI EVIDENCE EVEN THOUGH A CONTINUANCE WAS SOUGHT BY THE DEFENSE AND GRANTED BY THE TRIAL COURT TO FIND SUCH ALIBI **EVIDENCE; (K) FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE STATE'S PREJUDICIAL AND INFLAMMATORY CLOSING STATEMENT; (L) FATALLY CONTRADICTING** HIS CLIENT'S TESTIMONY DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT; AND, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL'S ERRORS CUMULATIVELY **RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE TO THE APPELLANT BEFORE, DURING, AND AFTER TRIAL.**

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