IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DARRIAN RAGLAND

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-1558-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

**BY: BILLY L. GORE
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR N [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant claims his lawyer was ineffective in the constitutional sense for a host of reasons and argues the State’s evidence was insufficient to support a conviction despite the eyewitness identification made by the victim inside her well lighted bedroom. (R. 78-79, 82, 92, 95-96)

Ragland’s brief is filled with hyperbolic rhetoric, exaggerated claims and interesting “spins” on the posture of the testimony as well as the performance of trial counsel. We salute students

LaBruce and Winnig for their vigorous representation of Ragland and commend them for a job well done.

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

Ragland argues that counsel was ineffective in the constitutional sense for a multitude of reasons we decline to individually address.

Ragland has failed on direct appeal to make out a claim *prima facie* of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. The record fails to affirmatively reflect ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions.

Appellee believes the present record is factually inadequate for a determination by the appellate court that Ragland was denied the effective assistance of trial counsel for the numerous reasons he now claims. A majority of Ragland's allegations are based upon facts not fully apparent from the record. Further fact-finding would be both prudent and necessary.

In any event, any lapses or omissions by counsel were not of sufficient gravity to render counsel's performance ineffective in the constitutional sense.

It is unusual for a reviewing court to consider a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel when the claim is made on direct appeal.

"This Court will rule on the merits on the rare occasions where (1) the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions, or (2) the parties stipulate that the record is adequate to allow the appellate court to make the finding without consideration of the findings of fact of the trial judge." **Drummond v. State**, *supra*, No. 2008-KP-00313-COA decided October 27, 2009, (¶ 15) slip opinion at 8 [Not Yet Reported].

In this posture, a reviewing court can decline to rule on the merits of Ragland's ineffective assistance of counsel claim without prejudice to Ragland to raise the issue *de novo* in a motion for post-conviction relief. See **McLaurin v. State**, *supra*, No. 2008-KA-00814-COA decided November

17, 2009 (¶¶ 14-17) slip opinion at 5-6 [Not Yet Reported]; **Drummond v. State**, *supra*, No. 2008-KP-00313-COA decided October 27, 2009, (¶¶14 and 15) slip opinion at 7-8 [Not Yet Reported]; **Wynn v. State**, *supra*, 964 So.2d 1196 (Ct.App.Miss. September 4, 2007); **Jones v. State**, *supra*, 961 So.2d 730 (Ct.App.Miss. February 20, 2007).

Sufficiency and Weight of the Evidence.

Mrs. Yarbrough, who had grown up with Ragland and knew him as a teenager (R. 97), identified Ragland as her tormentor from his top to his middle to his bottom, *viz.*, all the way from his braided hair, his white tee shirt and black pants, black shoes with red shoe strings, to his “plaid boxer shorts.” (R. 77-78, 93)

Her description of Ragland and his attire was so detailed as to make her identification of him virtually self-verifying.

The question of intent is not even close. Ragland directly expressed his intent to Mrs. Yarbrough.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE.

TRY AS HE MIGHT, THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED ON DIRECT APPEAL TO MAKE OUT A CLAIM *PRIMA FACIE* OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL.

THE RECORD FAILS TO AFFIRMATIVELY REFLECT INEFFECTIVENESS OF CONSTITUTIONAL DIMENSIONS.

Appellate counsel, with the refractive aid of hindsight and back-focal lenses, assails the effectiveness of trial counsel, Mr. Allan Shackelford, who is alleged to have committed twelve (12) sins of both commission and omission sufficient to render his representation at trial ineffective in the constitutional sense.

Substitute counsel berates trial counsel and criticizes his action and inaction in a manner more fit for Attila the notorious Hun. The bark of Ragland's appellate lawyers is far worse than the bite they attribute to Ragland's trial lawyer. Our review of the record leads to the inescapable conclusion that counsel's representation, while not perfect or even errorless, was not so defective as to give rise to a bona fide claim of ineffectiveness in the constitutional sense. This is especially true given the strength of the prosecution's case.

The record, in our opinion, is factually inadequate for a determination by a reviewing court that trial counsel was ineffective for the reasons he now claims. Without addressing each individual lapse of counsel alleged by Ragland, we respectfully defer to the cases which have declined to address the issue without prejudice to the appellant's right to raise the matter *de novo* in a post-conviction environment.

The ground rules for resolving this complaint were first set forth in **Read v. State**, 430 So.2d 832, 841 (Miss. 1983), where this Court stated:

(1) Any defendant convicted of a crime may raise the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal, even though the matter has not first been presented to the trial court. The Court should review the entire record on appeal. If, for example, from a review of the record, as in *Brooks v. State*, 209 Miss. 150, 46 So.2d 94 (1950) or *Stewart v. State*, 229 So.2d 53 (Miss. 1969), this Court can say that the defendant has been denied the effective assistance of counsel, the court should also adjudge and reverse and remand for a new trial. See also, *State v. Douglas*, 97 Idaho 878, 555 P.2d 1145, 1148 (1976).

(2) Assuming that the Court is unable to conclude from the record on appeal that defendant's trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective, the Court should then proceed to decide the other issues in the case. Should the case be reversed on other grounds, the ineffectiveness issue, of course, would become moot. On the other hand, if the Court should otherwise affirm, it should do so without prejudice to the defendant's right to raise the ineffective assistance of counsel issue via appropriate post-conviction proceedings. If the

Court otherwise affirms, **it may nevertheless reach the merits of the ineffectiveness issue where (a) as in paragraph (1) above, the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions**, or (b) the parties stipulate that the record is adequate and the court determines that findings of fact by a trial judge able to consider the demeanor of witnesses, etc. are not needed.

(3) If, after affirmance as in paragraph (2) above, the defendant wishes to do so, he may then file an appropriate post-conviction proceeding raising the ineffective assistance of counsel issue. *See Berry v. State*, 345 So.2d 613 (Miss. 1977); *Callahan v. State, supra*. Assuming that his application states a claim, *prima facie*, he will then be entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the merits of that issue in the Circuit Court of the county wherein he was originally convicted.¹⁵ Once the issue has been formally adjudicated by the Circuit Court, of course, the defendant will have the right to appeal to this Court as in other cases. [emphasis supplied; text of note 5 omitted]

The following language found in the recent cases of **McLaurin v. State, supra**, No. 2008-KA-00814-COA decided November 17, 2009, (¶¶ 14-17) slip opinion at 5-6 [Not Yet Reported] and **Drummond v. State, supra**, No. 2008-KP-00313-COA decided October 27, 2009, (¶¶ 14 and 15) slip opinion at 7-8 [Not Yet Reported], control the posture of Ragland's complaint:

Drummond contends that defense counsel's failure to object when the State was attempting to elicit hearsay testimony from the victim amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel. Drummond also argues that defense counsel was ineffective because counsel never attempted to impeach Moffett with his prior testimony. This Court does not generally consider an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim on direct appeal.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that:

It is unusual for this [c]ourt to consider a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel when the claim is made on direct appeal. This is because we are limited to the trial court record in our review of the claim[,] and there is usually insufficient evidence within the record to evaluate the claim. The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that, where the record cannot support an ineffective assistance of counsel claim on direct appeal, the appropriate conclusion is to deny relief, preserving the defendant's right to argue the same issue through a petition for post-conviction relief. This Court will rule on the merits

on the rare occasions where (1) the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions, or (2) the parties stipulate that the record is adequate to allow the appellate court to make the finding without consideration of the findings of fact of the trial judge.”

Wilcher v. State, 863 So.2d 776, 825 (¶171) (Miss. 2003) (internal citations and quotations omitted). The record does not affirmatively indicate Drummond suffered denial of effective assistance of counsel of constitutional dimensions, and the parties have not stipulated that the record was adequate to allow the appellate court to make a finding without considering the finding of facts by the trial judge. Thus, we decline to address this issue without prejudice to Drummond’s right to seek post-conviction relief, if he so chooses.

Drummond v. State, *supra*, No. 2008-KP-00313-COA decided October 27, 2009, (¶ 15) slip opinion at 8 [Not Yet Reported].

In the **McLaurin** case this court stated the following:

McLaurin raises twenty-three allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Without exhaustively listing each of McLaurin’s assertions, we summarize his allegations using his own words: “defense counsel did little to avail himself of the evidence in the custody of the State, . . . much less conduct an independent investigation.”

Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 22(b) states:

Issues which may be raised in post-conviction proceedings may also be raised on direct appeal if such issues are based on facts fully apparent from the record. Where the appellant is represented by counsel who did not represent the appellant at trial, the failure to raise such issues on direct appeal shall constitute a waiver barring consideration of the issues in post-conviction proceedings.

“Where the record is insufficient to support a claim of ineffective assistance, ‘the appropriate conclusion is to deny relief, preserving the defendant’s right to argue the same issue through a petition for post-conviction relief.’ ” *Wynn v. State*, 964 So.2d 1196, 1200 (¶9) (Miss.Ct.App.2007) (citing *Aguilar v. State*, 847 So.2d 871, 878 (¶17) (Miss.Ct.App. 2002)).

Several of McLaurin’s allegations are based upon facts that are not fully apparent from the record: defense counsel failed to file a direct appeal or a motion for post-conviction relief after accepting a retainer and asserting the defense he was going to file the appeals; defense counsel did not review an incriminating photograph of McLaurin used at trial and did not file a motion to exclude the photograph; defense

counsel failed to sufficiently investigate potential witnesses and relevant medical records; and defense counsel did not submit any jury instructions. The record contains no medical records, nor does it contain any statements by potential witnesses. Thus, we cannot address these issues on direct appeal. Because we cannot address several of McLaurin's ineffective assistance of counsel allegations on direct appeal, we find that McLaurin's ineffective assistance claim would be more appropriately brought in a petition for post-conviction relief, if he chooses to do so. Accordingly, we deny relief on this issue without prejudice."

McLaurin v. State, *supra*, No. 2008-KA-00814-COA decided November 17, 2009 (¶¶ 14-17) slip opinion at 5-6 [Not Yet Reported].

Because (1) the record fails to show ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions and (2) both parties have not stipulated the record is adequate to allow the appellate court to make the necessary findings of fact, this Court need not rule on the merits of Ragland's individual ineffective assistance of counsel claims. **Wynn v. State**, *supra*, 964 So.2d 1196 (Ct.App.Miss. September 4, 2007); **Jones v. State**, *supra*, 961 So.2d 730 (Ct.App.Miss. February 20, 2007).

At best, any scrutiny of trial counsel's omission must await a new horizon in a post-conviction environment where trial counsel will have an opportunity to explain the reasons for his actions and/or inactions. It is a rare case indeed where an appellate court will find constitutional ineffectiveness in trial counsel without granting to counsel a meaningful opportunity to be heard.

Our position, in a nutshell, is that Ragland has failed to demonstrate on direct appeal that any aspect of his lawyer's performance was deficient in the constitutional sense and that the deficient performance, if any, prejudiced the defense. Started differently, the record, in its present posture, fails to affirmatively reflect ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions.

ISSUE TWO.

ANY RATIONAL TRIER OF FACT COULD HAVE FOUND BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT RAGLAND BROKE AND ENTERED THE VICTIM'S DWELLING HOUSE WITH THE FELONIOUS INTENT TO RAPE MRS. YARBROUGH.

RAGLAND HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS BROAD JUDICIAL DISCRETION IN OVERRULING RAGLAND'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL GROUNDED, IN PART, ON A CLAIM THE JURY VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

NO UNCONSCIONABLE INJUSTICE EXISTS HERE.

Ragland, whose defense at trial was a general denial coupled with an alibi, assails both the sufficiency and the weight of the evidence. He argues, *inter alia*, that “ ‘facts and inferences’ in the State’s case are overflowing with blatant inconsistencies, logical fallacies, and an unconvincing set of events and only serve to conclusively establish that no ‘rational’ juror could have believed the State’s key witnesses gave credible evidence that the Appellant broke into Mrs. Yarbrough’s home in the manner to which was testified with an intent to rape Mrs. Yarbrough.” (Brief of Appellant at 44)

At various places throughout his appellate brief, Ragland describes the posture of the evidence as “tenuous,” “contradictory,” “unreasonable,” “Inconsistent,” “unreliable,” “flimsy,” and he declares the jury’s verdict “repulsive to reason, inference, and conclusion.” (Brief of Appellant at 42, 46, 48)

Similarly, he describes the testimony of Mrs. Yarbrough and Officer Wide as “underwhelming.” (Brief of Appellant at 32)

Our initial response to these descriptions, as well as to Ragland’s other observations, is provided by Justice Robertson in **Reynolds v. State**, 521 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1988):

"Horse feathers!" 521 So.2d at 917.

Corroboration of Mrs. Yarbrough's testimony by Wide was at least "whelming" and was certainly enough. **Heidelberg v. State**, 584 So.2d 393, 394 (Miss. 1991).

Our basic response to Ragland's exaggerated "spin" on the testimony is summarized in only three words: Classic jury issue.

Ragland suggests there was insufficient evidence from which a reasonable, fair-minded juror could find, either directly or by reasonable inference, that if Ragland was the person who entered the dwelling house, he did so with the required intent to rape. (Brief of Appellant at 44)

He also opines, for the same reason, he is entitled to a new trial because the first trial resulted in an unconscionable injustice.

We disagree.

Identification.

"The testimony of one eyewitness is sufficient to sustain a criminal conviction." **Barnett v. State**, 757 So.2d 323, 331 (¶27) (Ct.App.Miss. 2000) citing **Williams v. State**, 512 So.2d 666, 670 (Miss. 1987).

Mrs. Yarbrough identified Ragland in court as her nighttime visitor and assailant. (R. 91) She was able to view Ragland nearly eyeball to eyeball in a well-lighted bedroom. Although she had not seen him for ten (10) years she recognized Ragland because she had grown up with him when he was a teenager (R. 81, 97) and was certain of her identification. (R. 91) "I don't have any doubt that's him, that's Darrian." (R. 91)

It is well settled that a victim's uncorroborated identification of a defendant as his/her assailant is both substantial and credible evidence upon which the fact finder can base its verdict. **Brown v. State**, 798 So.2d 629 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001); **Dukes v. State**, 751 So.2d 1129 (Ct.App.Miss.

1999), reh denied. *Cf. Peyton v. State*, 796 So.2d 243 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001), reh denied, cert denied.

See also *Passons v. State*, 239 Miss. 629, 124 So.2d 847, 848 (1960), where we find the following language:

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